DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG Form F-4 January 14, 2005

QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 14, 2005

Registration No. 333-

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# FORM F-4

# REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# **Deutsche Telekom AG**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

# Federal Republic of Germany

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

4812

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

#### Not Applicable

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 140 53113 Bonn Germany +49 228 181 0

(Address and telephone number of registrant's principal executive offices)

Deutsche Telekom, Inc. Attn: Klaus-Peter Statz Executive Vice President and Treasurer 600 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10022 +1 212 424 2900

(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

Copies of Communications to:

John C. Palenberg, Esq. Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP 55 Basinghall Street London EC2V 5EH, England

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale of the securities to the public: As promptly as practicable after the effective date of this registration statement.

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

#### **Calculation of Registration Fee**

Title of each class of securities to be registered	Amount to be Registered(1)	Proposed Maximum Offering Price Per Unit	Proposed Maximum Aggregate Offering Price(2)	Amount of Registration Fee
Ordinary Shares, no par value	[]	Not Applicable	\$214,550,000	\$25,260

<sup>(1)</sup> 

Deutsche Telekom is registering a total of ordinary shares, no par value ("Deutsche Telekom shares") in connection with the proposed merger of T-Online International AG with and into Deutsche Telekom AG (the "Merger") described herein. This number is based on the (a) ordinary shares of T-Online ("T-Online Shares") expected to be outstanding and held by U.S. residents (within the meaning of Rule 12g3-2(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of March 16, 2005, the expected record date for determination of the T-Online shareholders entitled to vote on the Merger and (b) an exchange ratio of Deutsche Telekom shares for each T-Online Share pursuant to the Merger.

(2)

The proposed maximum aggregate offering price of all of the Deutsche Telekom shares registered in connection with the Merger is \$214,550,000. Pursuant to Rules 457(f)(1) and 457(c) under the Securities Act and solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee, the proposed maximum aggregate offering price is equal to the aggregate market value of the approximate number of T-Online Shares to be cancelled in the Merger (calculated as set forth in note (1) above) based upon a market value of \$13.00 per T-Online Share, the average of the high and low sale prices per T-Online Share on the XETRA trading system of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on January 11, 2005.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information contained in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission becomes effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and is not a solicitation of an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

Subject to Completion, dated January 14, 2005

# **Deutsche Telekom AG**

# up to million Ordinary Shares

This Prospectus relates to the delivery of ordinary shares ("Deutsche Telekom shares") of Deutsche Telekom AG to the holders of shares of T-Online International AG ("T-Online") in connection with the proposed merger of T-Online with and into Deutsche Telekom (the "merger"). As used in this Prospectus, unless the context otherwise requires, the term "Deutsche Telekom" refers to Deutsche Telekom AG and the terms "we," "us," "our" and "Group" refer to Deutsche Telekom and, as applicable, Deutsche Telekom and its direct and indirect subsidiaries as a group.

Subject to requisite shareholder approvals, we and T-Online have agreed that T-Online shareholders will receive Deutsche Telekom shares for each T-Online share in connection with the merger.

T-Online shareholders are to vote on the merger agreement at their annual general meeting scheduled for and , 2005. The merger agreement will not become effective unless a resolution approving the merger agreement is passed at the T-Online shareholders' meeting with the affirmative vote of holders of at least 75% of the T-Online share capital participating in the vote on the resolution. At January 14, 2005, we owned 73.93% of the outstanding T-Online shares. We believe that our T-Online shares are likely to amount to at least 75% of the T-Online share capital participating in the vote on the shareholders' resolution to approve the merger agreement.

Deutsche Telekom shareholders will vote on the merger agreement at their annual general meeting scheduled for April 25 and 26, 2005 if (i) at the record date for the Deutsche Telekom annual general meeting, we own less than 90% of the outstanding T-Online shares or (ii) if we own 90% or more of the outstanding T-Online shares, holders of at least 5% of the outstanding Deutsche Telekom shares timely request a vote on the merger. If the Deutsche Telekom shareholders vote on the merger agreement, it will not become effective unless a resolution approving it is passed with the affirmative vote of holders of at least 75% of the Deutsche Telekom share capital participating in the vote on the resolution.

The merger will not become effective until it is entered into the commercial registers for both T-Online and Deutsche Telekom.

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY, AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND A PROXY. T-Online will send you separate information regarding its shareholders' meeting in accordance with German law.

The principal market on which Deutsche Telekom's shares trade is the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, where they trade under the symbol "DTE" (International Securities Identification Number DE0005557508). American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, each representing one Deutsche Telekom share, are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "DT." On January 12, 2005, the closing price of the shares on the XETRA trading system of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange was EUR16.05, and the closing price of the ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange was \$21.37.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this Prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a crime.

We encourage you to read this Prospectus carefully, and in its entirety, including the list of risk factors relating to the merger that begins on page 6.

Prospectus dated March , 2005.

# ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This document incorporates important business and financial information about us from documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that are not included in or delivered with this document. Documents incorporated by reference are available without charge, excluding all exhibits unless an exhibit has been specifically incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. Shareholders may obtain documents incorporated by reference into this Prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone from us at the following address:

> Deutsche Telekom, Inc. 600 Lexington Avenue, 17th Floor New York, New York 10022 Telephone Number: (212) 424-2959 or (877) DT-SHARE (Toll free) Fax: (212) 424-2933 Email address: investor.relations@usa.telekom.de

# In order to receive timely delivery of the documents in advance of the T-Online annual general meeting, you should make your request no later than April \_\_\_\_\_, 2005.

Deutsche Telekom files annual and special reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which in this document we refer to as the "SEC." You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information on file at the SEC's public reference room located at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. The SEC filings are also available to the public from commercial document retrieval services. The Deutsche Telekom filings, and the registration statement filed by Deutsche Telekom of which this Prospectus forms a part, are available at the Internet Web site maintained by the SEC at *http://www.sec.gov*.

Deutsche Telekom has filed a registration statement on Form F-4 to register with the SEC the Deutsche Telekom shares that T-Online shareholders would receive in connection with the merger.

The SEC permits Deutsche Telekom to "incorporate by reference" information into this Prospectus. This means that Deutsche Telekom can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this Prospectus, except for any information superseded by information contained directly in this Prospectus or by information contained in documents filed with or furnished to the SEC after the date of this Prospectus that is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

This Prospectus incorporates by reference the documents set forth below that have been previously filed with or submitted to the SEC. These documents contain important information about us and our financial condition.

Deutsche Telekom SEC Filings (File No. 1-14540)	Period or Submission Date			
Annual Report on Forms 20-F and 20-F/A	Year ended December 31, 2003			
Reports on Form 6-K	Submitted on August 23, September 3 (to the extent that such report states that it is incorporated by reference into Deutsche Telekom's existing registration statements), September 9 and November 19, 2004			

Deutsche Telekom also incorporates by reference into this Prospectus additional documents that it may file with or submit to the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, from and including the date of this Prospectus to the date of the

ii

T-Online annual general meeting. These include reports such as Annual Reports on Form 20-F and any other Reports on Form 6-K designated by Deutsche Telekom as being incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

The Deutsche Telekom shares are listed and traded on all German stock exchanges, i.e., the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the Baden-Württemberg Stock Exchange in Stuttgart, the Berlin-Bremen Stock Exchange, the Düsseldorf Stock Exchange, the Hanseatic Stock Exchange in Hamburg, the Hanover Stock Exchange and the Munich Stock Exchange. Furthermore, the Deutsche Telekom shares are listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Options on the Deutsche Telekom shares trade on the German options exchange (Eurex Deutschland) and other exchanges. The Deutsche Telekom ADSs are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, which in this document we refer to as the "NYSE." You may inspect any periodic reports and other information filed with the SEC by Deutsche Telekom at the offices of the NYSE, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005 (17th Floor).

You can obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference through us or through the SEC's Internet Web site, in each case as described above. In addition, if you have questions about the merger, you may contact:

# **Deutsche Telekom AG**

Investor Relations Postfach 2000 53105 Bonn, Germany Telephone: +49 (0) 228 / 181 888 80 Fax: +49 (0) 228 / 181 888 99 E-Mail: investor.relations@telekom.de

This Prospectus is dated March , 2005. You should not assume that the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Prospectus is accurate as of any date other than that date. Neither the mailing of this Prospectus to T-Online shareholders nor the issuance by Deutsche Telekom of ordinary shares in connection with the merger will create any implication to the contrary.

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities, or a solicitation of a proxy, in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom it is unlawful to make any such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

iii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Additional Information	ii
Summary	1
Risk Factors Relating Specifically to the Merger	6
Forward-Looking Statements	8
The Companies	10
The Merger	11
The T-Online Annual General Shareholders' Meeting	17
Relationship Between Deutsche Telekom and T-Online	20
Market Price Data	23
U.S. Federal and German Tax Consequences	25
Validity of Securities	28
Experts	28
Pro Forma Financial Information	29
iv	

# SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this Prospectus. It does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should read carefully the entire Prospectus and the additional documents referred to in this Prospectus to fully understand the merger.

#### The Companies (see page 10)

Deutsche Telekom AG	<b>T-Online International AG</b>
Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 140	T-Online-Allee 1
53113 Bonn	64295 Darmstadt
Germany	Germany
(011 49) 228-181-0	(011 49) 6151 680-2929
We are Europe's largest telecommunications	T-Online is one of Europe's largest Internet service

We are Europe's largest telecommunications company and one of the largest telecommunications carriers worldwide based on 2003 revenues. **The Merger (see page 11)**  T-Online is one of Europe's largest Internet service providers based on number of customers at December 31, 2003.

If the merger agreement is approved by the T-Online shareholders and, if required under German law, by the Deutsche Telekom shareholders, T-Online will be merged with and into Deutsche Telekom upon registration of the merger in the commercial registers for both T-Online and Deutsche Telekom. Subject to requisite shareholder approvals, Deutsche Telekom and T-Online have agreed that T-Online shareholders will receive Deutsche Telekom shares for each T-Online share in connection with the merger.

The terms and conditions of the merger are contained in the merger agreement, which is included as an exhibit in the registration statement of which this Prospectus forms a part and is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. We encourage you to read the merger agreement carefully as it is the legal document that governs the merger.

If you are a T-Online shareholder, you will receive Deutsche Telekom shares, which are traded principally on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol "DTE."

## Appraisal Rights and German Valuation Proceeding (Spruchverfahren) (see page 17)

German law does not entitle the holders of T-Online ordinary shares to formal appraisal rights in connection with the merger. Under German law, however, T-Online shareholders who receive Deutsche Telekom shares in the merger may under certain circumstances become entitled to a supplementary cash payment. For further information in this regard, see "The T-Online Annual General Shareholders' Meeting Appraisal Rights and German Valuation Proceeding (*Spruchverfahren*)."

#### U.S. Federal Tax Consequences (see page 25)

For a discussion of U.S. federal tax consequences of the merger to T-Online shareholders, see "U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger to U.S. Holders of T-Online Shares."

# Selected Financial Data

We present below selected historical financial data of Deutsche Telekom as of and for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, as of and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 and as of and for each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2003. We derived the selected historical financial data as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2004

and 2003 and as of and for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2004 and 2003 from the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Telekom for those periods, including the notes to those financial statements. We derived the selected historical financial data for each of the years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2003 from the audited annual consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Telekom, including the notes to those financial statements. All the data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Deutsche Telekom. Certain Deutsche Telekom financial statements are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. See "Additional Information."

Deutsche Telekom reports its financial statements in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles, which in this Prospectus we refer to as "German GAAP." German GAAP differ in certain significant respects from U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which in this Prospectus we refer to as U.S. GAAP. For a discussion of the principal differences between German GAAP and U.S. GAAP as they relate to Deutsche Telekom and a reconciliation of Deutsche Telekom's net income and shareholders' equity to U.S. GAAP, see Note 41 to Deutsche Telekom's audited annual consolidated financial statements included in the Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003 and in the Deutsche Telekom Report on Form 6-K submitted to the SEC on September 9, 2004, which are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

	As of and nine m end Septem	ionths led	As of and six montl June	s ended		year ende	ed December 31,		
	2004	2003	2004	2003	2003	2002	2001	2000	1999
			(billio	ons of €, ex	cept as othe	erwise indic	ated)		
German GAAP									
Net revenue	42.9	41.3	28.4	27.2	55.8	53.7	48.3	40.9	35.5
Results from ordinary business activities	4.7	1.8	2.8	1.1	1.4	(27.2)	(2.5)	6.4	3.1
Net income (loss)	3.2	1.6	1.8	1.1	1.3	(24.6)	(3.5)	5.9	1.3
Earnings (loss) per share (in Euros)	0.77	0.39	0.43	0.26	0.30	(5.86)	(0.93)	1.96	0.43
U.S. GAAP									
Net income (loss)			1.6	1.5	2.9	(22.1)	0.5	9.3	1.5
Earnings (loss) per share (in Euros)									
Basic			0.39	0.35	0.70	(5.31)	0.14	3.06	0.53
Diluted			0.38	0.35	0.70	(5.31)	0.14	3.06	0.53
Balance sheet data:									
German GAAP									
Total assets	111.2		114.2		116.1	125.8	164.5	124.2	94.6
Debt (in accordance with the consolidated balance									
sheet)	46.7		50.0		55.4	63.0	67.0	60.4	42.3
Shareholders' equity	37.9		36.8		33.8	35.4	66.3	42.7	35.7
U.S. GAAP									
Shareholders' equity			47.9		45.0	45.4	73.7	46.1	37.6
Other data:									
Dividends per share (in Euros)(1)							0.37	0.62	0.62
Dividends per share (in U.S. dollars)(2)							0.34	0.53	0.58

<sup>(1)</sup> 

Dividends per share are presented on the basis of the year in respect of which they are declared, not the year in which they are paid.

(2)

Dividend amounts have been converted into U.S. dollars at the noon buying rate in The City of New York for cable transfers in Euros, as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the "noon buying rate") for the relevant dividend payment date, which occurs during the second quarter of the year following the year in respect of which the dividend is declared.

## Unaudited Selected Pro Forma Consolidated Condensed Financial Information

The following table provides unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information as of and for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2004, which is presented under German GAAP, and as of and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2003, which is presented under German GAAP and reconciled to U.S. GAAP. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated income statement information has been prepared as if the merger had occurred on January 1, 2003, and the combined balance sheet information has been prepared as if the merger had occurred on the respective balance sheet dates. The data set forth below give effect to the merger using the purchase method of accounting.

The unaudited pro forma adjustments, which are based upon available information and upon assumptions that management believes are reasonable, are described in the accompanying notes. The unaudited pro forma consolidated condensed financial information is for informational purposes only and does not purport to represent what our financial position or results of operations would actually have been had the transactions and prior pro forma events occurred as of the dates indicated, nor does the unaudited pro forma consolidated condensed financial information purport to project our results for any future period.

You should read the unaudited pro forma consolidated condensed financial information in conjunction with the "Selected Financial Data" of Deutsche Telekom set forth above, the audited consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Telekom incorporated by reference into this Prospectus, including the related notes, and "Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects" in the Deutsche Telekom Annual Reports on Form 20-F that are or will be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

For further discussion of the pro forma adjustments and more detailed pro forma financial statements, see "Pro Forma Financial Information" beginning on page 29.

As of and for the nine months ended September 30,	for the six months ended June 30,	For the year ended December 31,
2004	2004	2003

(billions of €, except as otherwise indicated)

Income statement data:
German GAAP
Net revenue
Results from ordinary business activities
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted (in Euros)
U.S. GAAP
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted
Balance sheet data:
German GAAP
Total assets
Shareholders' equity
U.S. GAAP
Shareholders' equity
3

#### **Comparative Per Share Data**

Set forth below are earnings (loss) per share and book value per share amounts presented for Deutsche Telekom on a historic basis and for Deutsche Telekom and T-Online on a pro forma combined basis, per equivalent share as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2003. The pro forma data are not indicative of the results of future operations or the actual results that would have occurred had the merger been completed at the beginning of the periods presented. You should read the data presented in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this document.

	September 30, 2004	December 31, 2003
	(	€)
Historic per share data		
Deutsche Telekom historic per ordinary share data (under German		
GAAP):		
Net income		
Cash dividends per share		
Book value per share(1)		
Unaudited pro forma combined per equivalent share data:		
Deutsche Telekom/T-Online (under German GAAP):		
Net income		
Cash dividends per share		
Book value per share(1)		
1		

(1)

The book value calculation represents the shareholders' equity divided by the number of shares outstanding at the end of the period.

#### **Comparative Market Price Data**

The following table presents the per share closing prices for Deutsche Telekom shares and T-Online ordinary shares as quoted on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. These prices are presented on the following dates:

October 8, 2004, the last trading day before the public announcement of the proposed merger; and

January 12, 2005, the latest practicable date before the printing of this Prospectus.

The table also presents implied equivalent per share values for T-Online ordinary shares by multiplying the price per Deutsche Telekom share, converted in to U.S. dollars, on each of the two dates by the merger exchange ratio of ordinary share.

	Deutsche Telekom ordinary share price (in €)	Deutsche Telekom ordinary share price (in U.S. dollars)	T-Online ordinary share price (in €)	T-Online ordinary share price (in U.S. dollars)	Implied value per T-Online share (in U.S. dollars)
October 8, 2004	15.22	18.90	8.99	11.16	
January 12, 2005	16.05	21.31	9.52	12.64	

You are urged to obtain current market quotations for Deutsche Telekom shares and T-Online ordinary shares before making a decision with respect to the merger.

# Holdings of T-Online Shares

As of December 15, 2004, directors, executive officers and affiliates of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online held not more than 1% of the then outstanding T-Online shares. The affirmative vote of holders of at least 75% of the T-Online share capital participating in the shareholders' vote on the merger agreement is required for approval of the merger agreement.

# **Enforceability of Civil Liability and Service of Process**

Deutsche Telekom is incorporated under the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany, and all of the members of the Deutsche Telekom management board, executive officers and certain of the experts named or referred to herein are non-residents of the United States. A substantial majority of the assets of Deutsche Telekom and its direct and indirect subsidiaries and such non-resident persons are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon such persons or to enforce in U.S. courts judgments against such persons or judgments of such courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. Federal securities laws. Deutsche Telekom has been advised by Hengeler Mueller, its German legal counsel, that there is doubt as to the enforceability in Germany, in original actions or actions for enforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, of claims based solely upon U.S. federal securities laws.

# **RISK FACTORS RELATING SPECIFICALLY TO THE MERGER**

The Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F and current reports on Form 6-K that are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus describe a variety of risks relevant to Deutsche Telekom's business and financial condition, which you are urged to read. The following discussion concerns risk factors relating specifically to the proposed merger.

# The market price of Deutsche Telekom shares may decrease significantly between the time you vote on the merger agreement and the time the merger is completed. As a result, at the time you vote on the merger agreement you will not know the market value you will receive for your T-Online shares.

The merger exchange ratio is fixed, and the merger agreement does not contain a mechanism to adjust the merger exchange ratio in the event that the market price of the Deutsche Telekom shares declines. As a result, if the market price of Deutsche Telekom shares at the completion of the merger is lower than their market prices on the date of the T-Online annual general meeting, the market value of Deutsche Telekom shares that you receive in the merger will be less than the market value on the date of the T-Online annual general meeting and may be less than you paid for your T-Online shares. We expect that the closing of the merger will occur in the second half of 2005, but it may occur at some other time, depending in large part on whether there is shareholder litigation that impedes completion of the merger.

The trading market for T-Online shares after the merger agreement has been approved by the requisite shareholders' meetings may be severely impaired or disrupted. As a result, until the merger closes and you receive Deutsche Telekom shares, the liquidity of the T-Online shares may decline and their volatility may increase.

Following approval of the merger agreement by the requisite shareholders' meetings and prior to entry of the merger into the commercial registers for T-Online and Deutsche Telekom, the trading volume of T-Online shares and the liquidity of the shares could decrease. This could result in substantial fluctuations in the trading price for T-Online shares.

T-Online shares are currently traded in the segment of the Regulated Market (*Geregelter Markt*) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange with additional listing obligations (Prime Standard). If, after approval of the merger by the requisite shareholders' meetings, the ordinary trading of T-Online shares no longer appears to be ensured, the quotation of T-Online shares could be discontinued or the admission of T-Online shares to the Regulated Market could be revoked.

In addition, T-Online shares are a component of the TecDax Index of Deutsche Börse AG ("TecDax"), with the consequence that certain institutional funds that invest in indices like the TecDax ("index funds") are required to hold T-Online shares to match the performance of the TecDax. It is possible that T-Online shares will be excluded from the TecDax after approval of the merger agreement by the requisite shareholders' meetings. If this were to occur, index funds still holding T-Online shares at that time may sell these shares, which could lead to an oversupply of T-Online shares in a comparatively illiquid market and a decline of the market price for T-Online shares.

# Investors who wished to own T-Online shares but who do not wish to hold Deutsche Telekom shares may sell the Deutsche Telekom shares they receive or expect to receive in the merger. This may put downward pressure on the market price of the Deutsche Telekom shares that you will receive in the merger. Arbitrageurs may also adversely influence share prices.

For a number of reasons, some shareholders of T-Online may wish to sell their T-Online shares prior to completion of the merger, or the Deutsche Telekom shares that they will receive in the merger. In addition, the market price of the Deutsche Telekom shares and ADSs may be adversely affected by arbitrage activities prior to the completion of the mergers. These sales or the prospect of future such sales, as well as arbitrage activity, could adversely affect the market price for T-Online shares and Deutsche Telekom shares.

# The merger exchange ratio was determined using a valuation methodology routinely used in German mergers and in accordance with German law and practice. You should not assume that the methodology employed produces values that everyone would agree are intrinsically correct or representative of fair value. You should also not assume that they are indicative of future market prices or valuations.

The merger exchange ratio will be determined employing a valuation methodology routinely employed in German merger transactions. A court-appointed merger valuation auditor reviews the ratio and pronounces as to whether it is "appropriate" (*angemessen*), but other valuation methodologies might produce different results, particularly if underlying assumptions are modified. You should make your own assessment concerning the Deutsche Telekom shares and the merger exchange ratio, calling on your advisors as you deem appropriate. You should not assume that everyone would agree that the relative valuations applied are intrinsically correct or representative of fair value. You should also not assume that they are indicative of future market prices or valuations.

# If shareholders contest the approval of the merger agreement, T-Online and/or Deutsche Telekom could be prevented from registering the merger.

Under German law, Deutsche Telekom shares will not be issued to T-Online shareholders until the merger is registered in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom, which may only take place after registration of the merger in the commercial register for T-Online and, to the extent that Deutsche Telekom carries out a capital increase for purposes of the merger, the registration of the implementation of the capital increase in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom. Both Deutsche Telekom shareholders and T-Online shareholders could contest the merger by filing an action to set aside the resolution by the respective shareholders' meeting approving the merger agreement within one month from the date of any such resolution. The merger will not be registered in the commercial registers for Deutsche Telekom and T-Online if a shareholder contest is pending unless registration at that time is approved by a competent court; during that time the T-Online shares would remain outstanding. An action could be brought by a Deutsche Telekom shareholder or a T-Online shareholder on the basis of alleged procedural irregularities or material defects in relation to the merger agreement or the merger resolution itself, including violation of information rights. Furthermore, a Deutsche Telekom shareholder could seek to prevent the use of Deutsche Telekom's authorized capital or, as the case may be, treasury stock for the merger. If a shareholder files any of these types of action, it could have the effect of delaying the effectiveness of the merger, which could adversely affect our strategic plan to fully integrate T-Online into Deutsche Telekom and the expected benefits from doing so. For further information in this regard, see "The T-Online Annual General Shareholders' Meeting Contestation Suits (*Anfechtungsklagen*)."

# If a valuation proceeding (*Spruchverfahren*) is brought in a German court, we could be obligated to make supplementary cash payments.

Under German law, any holder of Deutsche Telekom shares granted in the merger may, under circumstances described under "The T-Online Annual General Shareholders' Meeting Appraisal Rights and German Valuation Proceeding (*Spruchverfahren*)," bring a court valuation proceeding to determine whether the merger exchange ratio set forth in the merger agreement was too low from the point of view of former T-Online shareholders. Any such shareholder could initiate a valuation proceeding within three months following effective publication of the registration of the merger. If the court comes to the conclusion that the merger exchange ratio set forth in the merger agreement was too low from the point of view of former T-Online shareholders, we would be obliged to make supplementary cash payments to all shareholders entitled to initiate a valuation proceeding will have effect for and against all holders of Deutsche Telekom shares granted in exchange for T-Online shares regardless of whether they participated in such a proceeding.

# FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are statements that are not historical facts. Examples of forward-looking statements include:

financial projections and estimates and their underlying assumptions;

statements regarding plans, objectives and expectations relating to future operations, products and services;

statements regarding the potential consequences of our debt reduction and liquidity improvement initiatives;

statements regarding the potential impact of regulatory actions on our financial condition and operations;

statements regarding our prospective share of new and existing markets;

statements regarding the possible effects of adverse determinations in litigation, investigations, contested regulatory proceedings and other disputes;

statements regarding general industry and macroeconomic growth rates and our performance relative to them; and

statements regarding our future performance.

Forward-looking statements generally are identified by the words "expects," "anticipates," "believes," "intends," "estimates," "aims," "plans," "will continue," "seeks" and similar expressions. The discussion under the heading "The Merger Reasons for the Merger" in this Prospectus, in particular, contains numerous forward-looking statements. In the Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F that is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus, the "Strategy" discussion in Item 4, "Operating and Financial Review and Prospects Outlook for 2004" discussion in Item 5 and "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" discussion in Item 11 in particular contain numerous forward-looking statements also appear elsewhere in that Annual Report.

Forward-looking statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections, and therefore you should not place too much reliance on them. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement in light of new information or future events, although we intend to continue to meet our ongoing disclosure obligations under the U.S. securities laws (such as our obligations to file Annual Reports on Form 20-F and Reports on Form 6-K) and under other applicable laws. Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and are generally beyond our control. We caution you that a number of important factors could cause our actual results following the merger may differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. These factors include, among other factors:

those we discuss in this Prospectus under the heading "Risk Factors Relating Specifically to the Merger;"

the current reorganization and reintegration of our business segments, of which the proposed merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom is a part;

the progress of our measures to redeploy personnel through our Vivento personnel service agency and other measures, while maintaining cooperative relations with employee representatives in the consensus-based German corporate governance system;

our ability to achieve targeted cost savings and realize productivity improvements;

risks and uncertainties relating to the benefits anticipated from our international expansion, particularly in the United States;

the progress of our domestic and international investments, joint ventures and alliances;

the level of demand for telecommunications services, particularly for wireless telecommunications services, access lines, traffic and new higher-value products and services;

competitive forces, including pricing pressures, technological developments (including Voice-over-Internet Protocol technologies) and alternative routing developments;

the effects of price reduction measures and our customer acquisition and retention initiatives, particularly in the fixed-line voice telephony business, the mobile telecommunications business and other interconnection businesses;

the effects if industry consolidation on the markets in which we operate, particularly with respect to our mobile and leased lines businesses;

our ability to secure and renew the licenses needed to offer our services, particularly in light of the cost of licenses and related network infrastructure build-outs, especially with respect to our Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (UMTS) licenses;

regulatory developments and changes, including with respect to the levels of tariffs, terms of interconnection, customer access and international settlement arrangements;

the outcome of litigation, disputes and investigations in which we are involved or may become involved, including the litigation risks referred to under the heading "Risk Factors Relating Specifically to the Merger;"

the success of new business, operating and financial initiatives, many of which involve substantial start-up costs and are untested, and of new systems and applications, particularly with regard to the integration of service offerings;

concerns over health risks associated with the use of wireless handsets and other health and safety risks related to radio frequency emissions;

the progress and degree of success of our debt reduction and liquidity improvement initiatives;

the availability, terms and deployment of capital, particularly in view of our debt refinancing needs, actions of the rating agencies and the impact of regulatory and competitive developments on our capital outlays;

the development of the German real estate market in view of our goal of monetizing a portion of our real estate portfolio;

risks of infrastructure failures or damage due to external factors, including natural disasters, intentional wrongdoing, sabotage, acts of terrorism or similar events;

the effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations, particularly with regard to subsidiaries operating in the United States and the United Kingdom; and

changes in general economic conditions, government and regulatory policies, new legislation and business conditions in the markets in which our affiliates and we operate.

Certain of these factors are discussed in more detail in the Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F that is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. We caution investors that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. When reviewing forward-looking statements contained in this document, investors and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors as well as other uncertainties and events and their potential impact on our operations and businesses.

# THE COMPANIES

#### **Deutsche Telekom AG**

We are Europe's largest telecommunications company and one of the largest telecommunications carriers worldwide based on 2003 revenues. Our consolidated net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003, were approximately EUR 55.8 billion. We offer our customers a complete range of fixed-line voice telephony and mobile products and services. As of December 31, 2003, through T-Mobile, we served approximately 61.1 million mobile telephony customers in Europe and the United States. With core operations in Germany, our T-Systems division is one of Europe's foremost providers of advanced information and communications technology services to large corporate and governmental customers. Our T-Online unit is one of Europe's largest Internet providers in terms of customers, with more than 13.1 million customers as of December 31, 2003.

Our international portfolio of subsidiaries and investments includes telecommunications companies active in the United States, the United Kingdom, Central and Eastern Europe and elsewhere.

For further information about us, including a description of certain recent developments, please refer to Deutsche Telekom's reports filed with the SEC that are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus as described under "Additional Information."

Our principal executive offices are located at Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 140 in 53113 Bonn, Germany, and our telephone number is +49 (228) 181-0. We maintain a Web site on the Internet at www.telekom.de, but the information found on that Web site or other Web sites is not part of this Prospectus.

## **T-Online International AG**

T-Online is one of Europe's largest Internet service providers, with more than 13.1 million customers as of December 31, 2003. T-Online provides its residential and small- and medium-sized business customers with access to the Internet and Internet-related content and services, including broadband service, which enables customers to access the Internet and Internet-related services at significantly higher speeds than traditional dial-up service is capable of supporting. T-Online's activities also include Internet advertising and certain E-Commerce initiatives. For products and services that are important for T-Online's business but outside its core competencies, such as media content, software development and distribution, T-Online has developed numerous alliances and partnerships. Deutsche Telekom believes that T-Online was the leading Internet service provider in Germany by number of customers as of December 31, 2003, and its business there accounts for approximately 90% of T-Online group revenues. T-Online also operates through wholly-owned subsidiaries in France and Spain and certain other European countries.

T-Online's principal executive offices are located at T-Online-Allee 1, 64295 Darmstadt, Germany, and its telephone number is +49 6151 680-2929. T-Online maintains Web sites on the Internet at www.t-online.de and www.t-online.net, but the information found on these Web sites or other Web sites is not part of this Prospectus.

# THE MERGER

#### **Summary of Terms of Merger Agreement**

On March , 2005, Deutsche Telekom and T-Online entered into a merger agreement setting forth the terms of the merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom in accordance with Section 5 of the German Transformation Act (*Umwandlungsgesetz*). Deutsche Telekom and T-Online agreed *inter alia* that:

T-Online will transfer its entire assets with all rights and obligations attached thereto, by way of dissolution without winding-up to Deutsche Telekom in exchange for the granting of shares in Deutsche Telekom to the shareholders of T-Online (other than Deutsche Telekom) (merger by way of acquisition pursuant to Section 2 No. 1 of the German Transformation Act). Under the merger agreement, the transfer of the assets shall take place with retroactive economic effect from midnight on December 31, 2004, and from the start of January 1, 2005, all acts and transactions of T-Online shall be deemed executed for the account of Deutsche Telekom. The merger is to be based on the closing balance sheet of T-Online as of December 31, 2004. The date of retroactive economic effect and the date of the closing balance sheet may be postponed if the merger is registered in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom after December 31, 2005.

Upon the merger becoming effective, Deutsche Telekom will grant to T-Online shareholders (other than Deutsche Telekom) as consideration for the asset transfer Deutsche Telekom shares for each T-Online share. The shares to be granted by Deutsche Telekom shall carry dividend rights with respect to financial years beginning from January 1, 2005; the date on which dividend entitlements begin may be postponed if the merger is registered in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom after December 31, 2005.

To implement the merger, Deutsche Telekom will increase its share capital from EUR to EUR by issuing new registered shares, except to the extent that we elect to satisfy our obligation to deliver shares in the merger by delivering Deutsche Telekom shares, if any, that we have purchased in open market transactions in accordance with applicable law.

Each party may withdraw from the merger agreement if the merger has not become effective by midnight on

There are no conditions precedent to effectiveness of the merger agreement, other than:

The requisite approval of the T-Online shareholders;

The requisite approval of the Deutsche Telekom shareholders if:

at the record date for the Deutsche Telekom annual general meeting, we own less than 90% of the outstanding T-Online shares; or

if we own 90% or more of the outstanding T-Online shares, holders of at least 5% of the outstanding Deutsche Telekom shares timely request a vote on the merger; and

Entry of the merger into the commercial registers for T-Online and Deutsche Telekom.

#### **Reasons for the Merger**

We believe that the full integration of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom is an important element of our realigned strategy for the development of fixed-line and broadband markets in Germany. Our Broadband/Fixed Network strategic business area focuses on combining access, communication and entertainment services for the mass market. We believe that the so-called double-play approach (access and communication) and triple-play approach (access, communication and entertainment services) are

essential to reinforce broadband growth in Germany. We expect this integrated broadband strategy to strengthen customer loyalty, create opportunities to increase average revenue per customer and counter the decline in the fixed-line voice communications market. We believe that the full integration of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom will provide us with the necessary flexibility to establish one single customer interface, which we believe is the essential prerequisite for the efficient marketing of combined services, and to achieve sustainable customer relationships. For these reasons, it is a strategic aim of ours to complete the merger with T-Online as soon as possible.

### Negotiations Relating to the Merger

In May 2004, we announced our intention to create a new strategic business area called "Broadband/Fixed Line" consisting primarily of the businesses conducted by our segments T-Com and T-Online.

In July 2004, we commenced discussions with Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein and Goldman Sachs concerning potential transaction structures for, and financial implications of, a potential reintegration of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom. Also in July 2004, we engaged KPMG to act as our accounting advisers in that respect.

On September 1, 2004, Mr. Kai-Uwe Ricke, the chairman of Deutsche Telekom's Management Board, held a meeting with Mr. Thomas Holtrop, then T-Online's chief executive officer, to discuss the future new strategic business area "Broadband/Fixed Line."

On September 3, 2004, Mr. Holtrop announced his resignation as T-Online's chief executive officer and departure from the Deutsche Telekom Group effective September 30, 2004. On September 8, 2004, Mr. Ricke met with the Management Board of T-Online to discuss Mr. Holtrop's resignation.

We discussed our plans for the new strategic business area "Broadband/Fixed Line" with T-Online in:

A meeting between Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick, Deutsche Telekom's chief financial officer, Mr. Ralph Rentschler, the chief financial officer of Deutsche Telekom's T-Com segment, and Mr. Rainer Beaujean, then T-Online's chief financial officer, at Deutsche Telekom's headquarters in Bonn on September 8, 2004;

A meeting between Mr. Ricke and the Management Board of T-Online at Deutsche Telekom's headquarters in Bonn on September 9, 2004; and

Presentations made by Mr. Ricke to all T-Online employees at T-Online's headquarters in Weiterstadt on September 16, 2004 (at which the "Broadband/Fixed Line" strategic business area was discussed) and October 12, 2004 (at which the merger was discussed).

Effective September 30, 2004, Mr. Beaujean was appointed as chief executive officer of T-Online.

On October 5, 2004, Dr. Manfred Balz, Deutsche Telekom's general counsel, Mr. Thilo Kusch, the head of Deutsche Telekom's investor relations department, representatives of Hengeler Mueller, Deutsche Telekom's German counsel, and representatives of Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton, Deutsche Telekom's U.S. counsel, met with Mr. Beaujean and representatives of Gleiss Lutz, T-Online's German counsel, in Frankfurt to discuss preliminary legal structuring considerations relating to the potential reintegration of T-Online.

On October 9, 2004, we announced that we had decided:

to offer to enter into negotiations with T-Online regarding a merger between the two companies; and

to make a tender offer for all outstanding T-Online shares at a price of EUR 8.99 per share;

and on October 10, 2004 the Supervisory Board of T-Online consented to T-Online's entering into negotiations with Deutsche Telekom with respect to the proposed merger.

On October 18, 2004, representatives of Hengeler Mueller met with representatives of Gleiss Lutz to commence discussions about a framework agreement relating to the proposed merger, and on November 8, 2004 the parties entered into the framework agreement. For information regarding the content of the framework agreement, see "Relationship Between Deutsche Telekom and T-Online Framework Agreement."

Throughout the months of October, November and December, 2004, representatives of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online, assisted by representatives of KPMG and Warth & Klein, their respective accounting advisers for purposes of the proposed merger, discussed the valuations of the Deutsche Telekom Group and T-Online that would serve as a basis for the merger exchange ratio to be agreed by the two parties. The progress of the valuation work was discussed at weekly meetings attended by Mr. Guido Kerkhoff, the chief accounting officer of Deutsche Telekom, Mr. Andreas Nebe, senior vice president financial accounting of T-Online, and representatives of KPMG, Warth & Klein and Hengeler Mueller, among others.

#### **Merger Valuation Report**

Under the German Corporate Transformation Act (*Umwandlungsgesetz*), the parties to a merger do not have absolute discretion in the determination of the merger exchange ratio. Rather, the ratio arrived at by the parties must be reviewed by a court-appointed merger valuation auditor, and the merger valuation auditor is required to issue a report stating whether it finds the merger exchange ratio to be "appropriate" (*angemessen*) and describing the methods it used to arrive at its view. The Frankfurt district court (*Landgericht Frankfurt am Main*) has appointed Dr. Ebner, Dr. Stolz und Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft (Ebner, Stolz & Partner) as merger valuation auditor for purposes of the merger. Ebner, Stolz & Partner is a German accounting firm with approximately 340 employees that has provided valuation-related services in a number of transactions under the German Stock Corporation Act (*Aktiengesetz*) and the German Corporate Transformation Act. Deutsche Telekom and T-Online will determine the merger exchange ratio by mutual agreement on the basis of a comparative valuation, and Ebner, Stolz & Partner will not recommend any particular merger exchange ratio to Deutsche Telekom or T-Online.

The merger valuation auditor is required by German law to:

confirm that the merger agreement satisfies certain formal requirements; and

express an opinion on the "appropriateness" (Angemessenheit) of the merger exchange ratio in accordance with applicable law and legal practice.

The merger valuation auditor will not express an opinion on any other matter or, with respect to the matters described above, express an opinion for any purpose other than satisfaction of certain applicable German legal requirements.

To satisfy the applicable German legal requirements, the merger valuation auditor will:

review the merger agreement, the merger report prepared by the Management Boards of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online and such other documents as it considers necessary or appropriate to enable it to express the required opinion; and

meet with representatives of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online and representatives of their respective advisers (including accounting advisers and such other advisers as the merger

valuation auditor deems appropriate) to discuss such aspects of the valuation process as it deems relevant to enable it to express the required opinion, including without limitation:

the discount rates applied to projected future net earnings of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online for purposes of calculating net present values; and

the consistency with which certain assumptions and details of the valuation methods have been applied to available data.

The merger valuation auditor will not assume any responsibility for independent verification of the information provided to it by the parties to the transaction or by their respective accounting or other advisers.

The merger exchange ratio ultimately will be determined by us and T-Online on the basis of a comparative valuation of both us and T-Online. We will, and we expect that T-Online will, endeavor to come to an agreement on the merger exchange ratio that the merger valuation auditor is likely to consider to be "appropriate" within the meaning of applicable German law. We cannot, however, assure you that the merger valuation auditor will reach this conclusion with respect to the merger exchange ratio that we agree with T-Online. We will update this Registration Statement prior to effectiveness to reflect the opinion expressed by the merger valuation auditor with respect to the merger exchange ratio.

#### Material Differences Between Rights of Security Holders of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online

Upon completion of the proposed merger, T-Online shareholders (other than Deutsche Telekom) will receive Deutsche Telekom shares in exchange for their T-Online shares, thereby becoming Deutsche Telekom shareholders. As Deutsche Telekom is incorporated under German law, the rights of its shareholders will be governed by German law. Because T-Online is also incorporated under German law, any differences in the rights of the former T-Online shareholders as shareholders of Deutsche Telekom and their rights as T-Online shareholders will mainly result from differences between Deutsche Telekom's articles of association and T-Online's articles of association.

The following is a brief summary of the material differences between the rights of T-Online's shareholders and the rights of Deutsche Telekom's shareholders.

#### Shares

Both T-Online shares and Deutsche Telekom shares are registered shares. The individual shares do not have a par value as such, but they do have a notional par value that can be determined by dividing the share capital by the number of shares. The proportionate amount in the registered share capital attributable to each T-Online share amounts to EUR 1 whereas the proportionate amount in the registered share capital attributable to each Deutsche Telekom share currently amounts to EUR 2.56.

Each share entitles to one vote in the respective company's shareholders' meetings.

#### Authorized Capital

Until May 30, 2006, T-Online's management board is authorized, with the consent of its supervisory board and under the terms set forth in its articles of association, to increase its share capital against contribution in cash or in kind. Deutsche Telekom's management board may increase the share capital of Deutsche Telekom, with the consent of its supervisory board and under the terms set forth in its articles of association, only against contribution in kind. The Deutsche Telekom authorization expires on May 17, 2009. According to T-Online's articles of association, preemptive rights of existing shareholders are automatically excluded if the authorized capital is used to issue new shares to employees of T-Online or for the purpose of acquisitions. Otherwise, existing shareholders

will, in general, have preemptive rights, unless those rights are, under the terms set forth in T-Online's articles of association and in case of a capital increase against cash contribution only, excluded by the management board with the consent of the supervisory board. The articles of association of Deutsche Telekom do not provide for an automatic exclusion of preemptive rights of existing shareholders. However, Deutsche Telekom's management board may, with the consent of the supervisory board, decide to exclude such preemptive rights if the authorized capital is used for the purpose of a merger or an acquisition.

#### **Conditional Capital**

T-Online's articles of association provide for two classes of conditional capital, whereas the articles of association of Deutsche Telekom provide for three classes of conditional capital. T-Online's conditional capital, like two of the three classes of Deutsche Telekom's conditional capital, is for the issuance of shares upon exercise of options under different share option plans. Deutsche Telekom's third class of conditional capital allows new shares to be issued if and to the extent holders or creditors of conversion rights or warrants attached to certain convertible bonds or bonds with warrants exercise their conversion or warrants or holders or creditors obligated to convert certain convertible bonds fulfill their conversion obligation. On the basis of the third class of conditional capital, Deutsche Telekom has issued convertible bonds with a conversion obligation as of June 6, 2006, which could result in issuance of up to 195,312,500 new shares.

For further information regarding Deutsche Telekom's conditional capital, see "Item 10. Additional Information Articles of Association Conditional Capital" in the Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F that is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus, as supplemented by Deutsche Telekom's Current Report on Form 6-K submitted to the SEC on August 23, 2004.

### Supervisory Board

T-Online's supervisory board is composed of twelve members (six shareholder representatives and six employee representatives), and Deutsche Telekom's supervisory board is composed of twenty members (ten shareholder representatives and ten employee representatives), in accordance with the German Co-Determination Act (*Mitbestimmungsgesetz*) of 1976. The merger will not affect the statutory rules applicable for the size and co-determination of Deutsche Telekom's supervisory board.

#### Management Board

According to T-Online's articles of association, the management board's rules of procedure are to be issued by the supervisory board. Deutsche Telekom's management board may issue its own rules of procedure but does require the consent of the supervisory board to do so.

#### German Corporate Governance Code

T-Online complies with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code with certain exceptions. Deutsche Telekom currently complies with all recommendations without exceptions. While current compliance with the recommendations does not create a legal obligation to comply in the future, non-compliance must be disclosed.

#### Acquisition of Company's Own Shares and Exclusion of Preemptive Rights in Case of Resale of Such Shares

The 2004 annual general meetings of both Deutsche Telekom and T-Online passed resolutions authorizing the companies' management boards for a period of 18 months to acquire certain numbers of the respective company's own shares. As to the resale of shares acquired under those authorizations, both companies' current shareholder resolutions exclude shareholders' preemptive rights if and to the extent the company offers such shares to third parties in the context of an acquisition or resells them at



a price that does not significantly fall below the stock exchange price of shares of the same class at the time of the sale. In addition, Deutsche Telekom's current authorization allows its management board to use, with the consent of the supervisory board, shares acquired under the authorization to introduce Deutsche Telekom shares to foreign stock exchanges on which they are not traded at that time. If and to the extent this authorization is used by the management board, shareholders' preemptive rights are excluded. T-Online's current resolution contains no comparable provisions. Deutsche Telekom's management board may also, with the consent of the supervisory board, exclude shareholders' preemptive rights for fractional amounts if it offers shares acquired under the authorization to all of its shareholders. T-Online's current authorization contains no provision that would allow the exclusion of preemptive rights for fractional amounts. Furthermore, each of Deutsche Telekom's management board is authorized, with the consent of the relevant company's supervisory board, to cancel shares acquired under the authorization without further approval by the shareholders. In case of Deutsche Telekom, this may result in a decrease of Deutsche Telekom's share capital, whereas in the case of T-Online a cancellation without further approval of the shareholders is only possible if the share capital remains unchanged, thereby increasing the proportionate amount of each share in the share capital.

It should be noted, however, that the contents of the current resolutions have no binding effect for possible future resolutions which may set forth different conditions for the acquisition and resale of the shares.

# Accounting Treatment of the Transaction

We will account for the merger as a purchase under both German GAAP and U.S. GAAP. See "Pro Forma Financial Information."

## THE T-ONLINE ANNUAL GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

#### General

The annual general meeting of T-Online shareholders at which the merger agreement will be presented for approval is scheduled to be held on and , 2005, commencing at a.m., Central European Summer time. At the T-Online annual general meeting, the T-Online shareholders will vote on, among other things, whether to approve the merger agreement.

Approval of the merger agreement requires a resolution passed by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the T-Online share capital participating in the vote on the resolution. We currently own 73.93% of the outstanding T-Online shares. We believe that our T-Online shares are likely to amount to at least 75% of the T-Online share capital participating in the vote on the shareholders' resolution that would approve the merger agreement. We will vote our T-Online shares in favor of the merger proposal.

### Appraisal Rights and German Valuation Proceeding (Spruchverfahren)

German law does not entitle the shareholders of T-Online to formal appraisal rights in connection with the merger. However, any holder of Deutsche Telekom shares granted in the merger may, pursuant to Section 15 of the German Transformation Act (*Umwandlungsgesetz*) and Section 3 of the German Award Proceedings Act (*Spruchverfahrensgesetz*), within three months following the effective publication of the registration of the merger, initiate a valuation proceeding in the District Court of Frankfurt am Main to determine the adequacy of the merger exchange ratio and to seek a supplementary cash payment in addition to the Deutsche Telekom shares granted in the merger if the merger exchange ratio is deemed to be inadequate. Any such shareholder may initiate such a proceeding even if the shareholder acquired T-Online shares after the date of the T-Online annual general meeting or voted in favor of the merger. In the following discussion, we refer to Deutsche Telekom shareholders who have the right to initiate a valuation proceeding in the District Court of Frankfurt am Main as "qualifying shareholders."

If any qualifying shareholder files a petition to initiate a valuation proceeding (*Spruchverfahren*), the qualifying shareholder must also substantiate the petition within the three month time period allowed for the filing of the petition. This requires the qualifying shareholder to set forth specific objections to the valuation of T-Online and/or Deutsche Telekom based on which the merger exchange ratio was calculated. If at least one petition has been filed that meets all the formal requirements of the German Award Proceedings Act, the district court will appoint a common representative who will act as a legal representative for the qualifying shareholders who have not filed a petition.

The district court is not bound by the rules of evidence pertaining to a civil case in such a proceeding but is in principle required to seek and hear all evidence it considers necessary to decide the petition, regardless of whether such evidence was presented by the petitioners or the respondent. The district court may, however, reject pleadings that have not been submitted in a timely fashion in accordance with the statutory requirement of speedy and diligent pleading if their admission would delay the resolution of the proceeding and no justification for the delay has been presented by the parties. To the extent the parties have violated their obligations to submit their pleadings in a timely fashion, the court is not required to seek further evidence or to investigate the matter.

The district court may appoint a certified public accountant or accounting firm as court expert to determine the per share value of the merging entities. Such expert may conduct a comprehensive valuation of both constituent companies. However, the district court is not required to appoint an expert who has not been involved in the merger. Rather, it may, as the basis of its fact-finding, demand specific statements and explanations pertaining to the valuation from the court-appointed merger valuation auditor. If oral arguments are held in the valuation proceeding, the district court is supposed

to hear the court-appointed merger valuation auditor as an expert witness. Whether the district court chooses to appoint a new expert or relies entirely on the court-appointed merger valuation auditor depends on a number of factors, including the specific objections set forth by a petitioner. It is therefore impossible to predict what the district court would do in the case of a petition by qualifying shareholders.

In the event that the district court were to find that the merger exchange ratio was too low from the point of view of the qualifying shareholders, it would not change the merger exchange ratio but would rather award supplementary cash payments payable by Deutsche Telekom to all qualifying shareholders (not only those qualifying shareholders who filed a petition in the valuation proceeding). Such award would be payable with interest at 2% above the statutory base rate from the date of the effective publication of the registration of the merger in the commercial register (*Handelsregister*).

Regardless of the outcome of the proceeding, Deutsche Telekom would bear the costs of the common representative. It would also bear the court costs and its own costs regardless of the outcome, unless the district court determined that it would be inequitable to do so. Deutsche Telekom would also bear the petitioners' costs if and to the extent the court considered this to be equitable with regard to the outcome of the proceeding.

Valuation proceedings are typically initiated after a merger. In some of the reported cases, supplementary cash payments were awarded. Based on the experiences of other German companies in merger proceedings, we expect that a valuation proceeding will be brought by qualifying shareholders in connection with the merger. It is, however, not possible to predict the outcome of a potential proceeding.

A merger exchange ratio that is deemed appropriate (*angemessen*) as required under German law can neither be freely negotiated between Deutsche Telekom and T-Online nor imposed by Deutsche Telekom as the majority shareholder of T-Online. Rather, an appropriate merger exchange ratio must be determined through a comparative valuation of each of Deutsche Telekom and T-Online. We intend to determine the merger exchange ratio using a valuation methodology routinely used in German mergers and in accordance with German law. In addition, the merger valuation auditor (*Verschmelzungsprüfer*) appointed by the German court pursuant to the German Transformation Act will review the merger exchange ratio and will state whether it was appropriately determined in accordance with applicable German valuation principles and is appropriate as consideration. Accordingly, if a valuation proceeding were commenced, we would expect to defend against any allegation made in such a proceeding to the effect that the merger exchange ratio was not appropriately determined.

The Main Technical Committee (*Hauptfachausschuss*) of the German Auditors Institute (*Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer*) has established accepted methodologies for valuing businesses in connection with merger transactions. These methodologies are set forth in IDW S 1 ("Standards for Carrying out Business Valuations"), as proposed to be amended. As a general matter, these methodologies require valuation of each of the parties to the merger on a "stand-alone" basis as of the date of the shareholders' meeting called to consider the transaction. The valuation of each of the business enterprises is based on an analysis of the present value of all future net cash flows or net earnings. It is common practice in Germany to base the valuation on future net earnings. The projection of future net earnings has to be based on an analysis of the past, and the historical reference period for this analysis generally is the last three completed fiscal years. The projection of future net earnings generally should cover at least three to five years.

To calculate enterprise values, future net earnings must be discounted to the valuation date using a discount rate derived by means of the "Capital Asset Pricing Model," where the applicable risk-free rate is based on government securities. An additional risk premium is derived from the risk profile of the company to be valued. Because shareholders' individual tax rates may significantly influence the

value of the enterprise from a shareholder perspective, a standard income tax burden is deducted from projected earnings.

Furthermore, only the value of the assets necessary for the operation of the business is included in projected earnings. Assets that may be sold without affecting the operation of the enterprise as a "going concern" are valued separately at their net realizable sale value after taxes, which is then added to the total valuation of the business enterprise. Pursuant to the prescribed methodologies, the liquidation value of the business enterprise (i.e., the obtainable net proceeds from the sale of assets, less debt) is only to be used as the applicable measure of value under circumstances that Deutsche Telekom believes will not be applicable in connection with the proposed merger.

#### Contestation Suits (Anfechtungsklagen)

Under German law, Deutsche Telekom shares will not be issued to T-Online shareholders until the merger is registered in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom, which cannot take place before registration of the merger in the commercial register for T-Online and, to the extent that Deutsche Telekom carries out a capital increase for purposes of the merger, the registration of the implementation of the capital increase in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom. Both Deutsche Telekom shareholders and T-Online shareholders could contest the merger by filing an action to set aside the resolution by the respective shareholders' meeting approving the merger agreement. This action must be commenced within one month from the date of such resolution. An action could be brought by a Deutsche Telekom shareholder or a T-Online shareholder on the basis of alleged procedural irregularities before or during the shareholders' meeting voting on the merger agreement or on material defects in relation to the merger agreement or the merger resolution itself, including violation of information rights. Statutory German law provides that a contestation suit by a T-Online shareholder against the validity of the resolution approving the merger agreement may not be based on the grounds that the merger exchange ratio set forth in the merger agreement is too low from the point of view of T-Online shareholders. The appropriateness of the merger exchange ratio, including the underlying valuations, will exclusively be reviewed in the valuation proceeding, if any. The merger cannot be registered in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom and/or T-Online while a contestation suit is pending. Pursuant to the German Transformation Act (Umwandlungsgesetz), if an action to set aside the resolution approving the merger agreement is filed. Deutsche Telekom or T-Online, as applicable, may apply for a decision by the competent court to the effect that such filing does not bar the registration of the merger in the commercial register for Deutsche Telekom or T-Online, as applicable. Such a decision may only be made if the contestation suit against the validity of the merger resolution is inadmissible or clearly unfounded or if it appears to the court in its discretion, having considered the seriousness of the infringements of rights as asserted in the claim, that the immediate completion of the merger should have priority in order to avert significant disadvantages for Deutsche Telekom and T-Online as well as their respective shareholders, as asserted by Deutsche Telekom or T-Online, as applicable. After the decision by the competent court has become final and binding, which may take several months, the merger may be registered in the commercial registers for T-Online and Deutsche Telekom. If Deutsche Telekom or T-Online, as applicable, is successful in registering the merger by obtaining such an affirmative accelerated court decision, Deutsche Telekom still could be liable to pay damages to Deutsche Telekom shareholders and/or T-Online shareholders if it is later on determined that the contestation suit is legally founded. If, on the other hand, an affected company is unsuccessful in its request for an accelerated court decision, the registration of the merger can occur only after the action has been finally adjudicated. The denial of an action to set aside a merger resolution can in principle be appealed in sequence to two higher courts. Apart from a contestation suit, a Deutsche Telekom shareholder could seek to prevent the use of Deutsche Telekom's authorized capital or, as the case may be, treasury stock for the merger.

#### Voting Securities and Principal Owners Thereof

The information set forth under the heading "Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions Major Shareholders" in the Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F that is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus is incorporated by reference into this paragraph.

#### **Directors and Officers of Deutsche Telekom**

The information set forth under the heading "Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees Supervisory Board" and " Management Board" in the Deutsche Telekom Annual Report on Form 20-F that is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus, as supplemented by the information contained in the Deutsche Telekom Reports on Form 6-K that were submitted to the SEC on August 23, 2004, September 3, 2004 (to the extent incorporated by reference in this registration statement) and November 19, 2004, is incorporated by reference into this paragraph.

# Material Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger

As a matter of law, all employment and service agreements entered into by T-Online will automatically pass to Deutsche Telekom upon completion of the merger, unless otherwise provided for in the respective agreement or unless an affected employee objects to the transfer of his or her employment agreement.

Deutsche Telekom has entered into discussions with some members of T-Online's Management Board with regard to their future position within the Broadband/Fixed Network strategic business area. No definitive agreements had resulted from any such discussions as of January 14, 2005. Any details will be mutually agreed upon with the affected board member.

# RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AND T-ONLINE

#### General

T-Online is a majority-owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom. Of the six shareholder representatives on T-Online's supervisory board, four are either members of Deutsche Telekom's management board or members of senior management of Deutsche Telekom or its principal subsidiaries, and one is a senior official of the German government, Deutsche Telekom's largest shareholder. Specifically:

Kai-Uwe Ricke, chairman of T-Online's Supervisory Board, is also chairman of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom and chairman of the Supervisory Boards of several companies of the Deutsche Telekom group.

Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick, a member of T-Online's Supervisory Board, is vice-chairman of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom and responsible for Finance & Controlling. He is also a member, and in some cases chairman, of the Supervisory Boards of several companies in the Deutsche Telekom group.

Dr. Heinz Klinkhammer, a member of T-Online's Supervisory Board, is a member of the Management Board of Deutsche Telekom responsible for Human Resources. He is also a member, and in one case chairman, of the Supervisory Boards of several companies in the Deutsche Telekom group.

Dieter Cazzonelli, a member of T-Online's Supervisory Board, is head of the tax department of Deutsche Telekom and a member, and in some cases chairman, of the Supervisory Boards of several companies in the Deutsche Telekom group.

Dr. Eberhardt Rolle, a member of T-Online's Supervisory Board, is also a member of the Supervisory Board of T-Mobile International AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom. Dr. Rolle is a senior official of the German government.

T-Online was first listed on the *Neuer Markt* segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in April 2000 through a public offering of newly issued shares representing approximately 10% of its then equity capitalization. Deutsche Telekom's interest was subsequently diluted through new share issuances to approximately 81.7%. In December 2002, Deutsche Telekom sold an additional 9.81% of its T-Online shares. On November 12, 2003, Deutsche Telekom acquired the 2% stake in T-Online previously held by Commerzbank under the terms of a contractual agreement between Commerzbank and Deutsche Telekom. Following the closing of the *Neuer Markt* segment in June 2004, T-Online shares are currently traded on the Regulated Market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Accordingly, Deutsche Telekom currently owns 73.93% of the outstanding shares of T-Online.

The commercial relationship between Deutsche Telekom and its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and T-Online on the other is governed by a substantial number of contracts. The most significant of these contracts sets forth the terms on which Deutsche Telekom grants T-Online access to the Internet platform that forms a part of Deutsche Telekom's fixed-line telecommunications network. Pursuant to a separate contract, T-Online has agreed to make available on T-Online's principal Internet Web site (www.t-online.de) a link to Deutsche Telekom's principal Web site (www.telekom.de). T-Online also participates in the cash management program of the Deutsche Telekom Group. A number of minor contracts set forth the terms on which the parties provide other services and rights to one another.

### **Framework Agreement**

On November 8, 2004, Deutsche Telekom and T-Online entered into a framework agreement with respect to the merger. The framework agreement expresses the intention of the parties to enter into a merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom. In addition, in the framework agreement, Deutsche Telekom and T-Online agreed that:

the current business of T-Online International AG will be continued within Deutsche Telekom AG as an independent organizational unit with its own management and its own profit and loss responsibility and will be integrated into the new strategic business area "Broadband/Fixed Network" of Deutsche Telekom AG; and

the development and marketing of all IP products of the strategic business area "Broadband/Fixed Network", in particular "triple play" products, will continue to be the responsibility of the organizational unit T-Online.

The framework agreement also provides that the parties, with professional support from accountants appointed by them, will determine the merger exchange ratio by performing a discounted future earnings valuation of both companies in accordance with the generally accepted principles of the German Institute of Chartered Accountants ("*Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer*") and rulings of the German courts.

In addition, the parties agreed in the framework agreement on procedural matters regarding the implementation of the proposed merger.

#### **Tender Offer for T-Online Shares**

On November 26, 2004, Deutsche Telekom commenced a voluntary public tender offer for all of the shares of T-Online at a cash price of  $\notin$  8.99 per share. The tender offer is intended to provide market liquidity and price certainty to those T-Online shareholders who may want to sell their shares for cash at a time well before completion of the proposed merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom.

The tender offer will expire on February 4, 2005, unless the expiration date is extended in accordance with German law.

### Agreement on the Compensation of Disadvantages

T-Online is a dependent company (*abhängiges Unternehmen*) within the meaning of Section 17 of the German Stock Corporation Act (*Aktiengesetz*) in relation to Deutsche Telekom. Deutsche Telekom and T-Online have not entered into a control agreement. Under German law, in the absence of a control agreement, a controlling enterprise may not exercise its influence to cause a controlled stock corporation to undertake a disadvantageous transaction or to undertake or refrain from undertaking, to the detriment of the company, any action, unless any disadvantage of the dependent company is compensated. According to Section 311(2) of the German Stock Corporation Act, a controlling enterprise is obliged by operation of law to compensate such disadvantages, if any, or to conclude an agreement under which the controlled company is granted an entitlement to the measures designated to serve as compensation. Against this background, Deutsche Telekom and T-Online decided to enter into an agreement on the compensation of possible disadvantages. The agreement was executed on December 21, 2004. In accordance with the terms set forth in the agreement, T-Online is entitled to a contractual compensation claim in cash against Deutsche Telekom upon expiration of each fiscal year if and to the extent Deutsche Telekom has caused T-Online to undertake or to refrain from undertaking disadvantageous transactions or any actions to the detriment of T-Online provided that any disadvantage caused thereby has not been compensated during the respective fiscal year by granting advantages or by other measures. In case of disputes on the question whether or not certain transactions or actions caused by Deutsche Telekom trigger a compensation right of T-Online, such question shall be decided with binding effect for both parties by an accounting firm acting as expert arbitrator. This agreement, like all other agreements between Deutsche Telekom and T-Online, will terminate by operation of law if and when the merger takes effect.

# MARKET PRICE DATA

#### **Deutsche Telekom**

The principal trading market for the Deutsche Telekom shares is the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The shares are also listed and traded on all other German stock exchanges, i.e., the Baden-Württemberg Stock Exchange in Stuttgart, the Berlin-Bremen Stock Exchange, the Düsseldorf Stock Exchange, the Hanseatic Stock Exchange in Hamburg, the Hanover Stock Exchange and the Munich Stock Exchange. Furthermore, the Deutsche Telekom shares are listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Options on the shares trade on the German options exchange (Eurex Deutschland) and other exchanges. American Depositary Shares relating to Deutsche Telekom's shares are listed and principally traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

The table below sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sales prices for the Deutsche Telekom shares on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, as reported by the Frankfurt Stock Exchange XETRA trading system, and the high and low closing sales prices for the Deutsche Telekom ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange.

	Price Per Ordinary Share (€)		Price 1 ADS (U	
	High	Low	High	Low
Yearly highs and lows				
2000	103.50	31.48	98 <sup>5</sup> /8	29 <sup>1</sup> /4
2001	38.75	14.50	36.56	13.39
2002	20.16	8.42	18.01	8.27
2003	14.51	9.13	18.13	10.11
2004	16.78	13.14	22.71	15.57
Quarterly highs and lows				
2003				
First Quarter	14.26	9.13	15.09	10.11
Second Quarter	13.50	10.33	15.38	11.30
Third Quarter	13.92	12.44	15.70	13.96
Fourth Quarter	14.51	12.36	18.13	14.48
2004				
First Quarter	16.78	14.40	21.17	17.50
Second Quarter	14.92	13.14	18.24	15.57
Third Quarter	15.01	13.20	18.66	16.05
Fourth Quarter	16.65	14.56	22.71	18.35
Monthly highs and lows				
2004				
July	14.43	13.20	17.76	16.05
August	14.68	13.26	17.81	16.24
September	15.01	14.15	18.66	17.26
October	15.55	14.56	19.27	18.35
November	16.16	15.01	21.22	19.31
December	16.65	16.25	22.71	21.45
2005				
January (through January 12, 2005)	16.84	16.05	21.40	21.23

You are urged to obtain a current market quotation for the Deutsche Telekom ADSs and Deutsche Telekom shares.

On October 8, 2004, the last trading day prior to the formal public announcement of the signing of the merger agreement, the closing sales price per Deutsche Telekom share on the XETRA trading system of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange was EUR 15.22, equivalent to \$18.90 per Deutsche Telekom

share, translated at the noon buying rate for October 8, 2004, and the high and low bid prices for the Deutsche Telekom ADSs as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange were \$18.99 and \$18.80, respectively.

On January 12, 2005, the last trading day for which information was available prior to the printing of this Prospectus, the closing sales price per Deutsche Telekom share on XETRA was EUR 16.05, equivalent to \$21.32 based on an exchange rate of 1.3281 U.S. dollars per Euro, and the high and low bid prices for the Deutsche Telekom ADSs as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange were \$21.40 and \$21.23, respectively.

# **T-Online**

Since April 17, 2000, T-Online ordinary shares have traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The table below sets forth, for the calendar quarters indicated, the high and low sale prices of T-Online ordinary shares as reported on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

	Price per Ordinary Share (€)		
	High	Low	
Yearly highs and lows			
2000 (from April 17, 2000)	48.00	12.19	
2001	16.58	4.85	
2002	13.74	5.12	
2003	11.95	5.30	
2004	11.50	7.53	
Quarterly highs and lows			
2003			
First Quarter	6.54	5.30	
Second Quarter	9.03	6.69	
Third Quarter	10.19	8.55	
Fourth Quarter	11.95	8.95	
2004			
First Quarter	11.50	8.76	
Second Quarter	10.22	8.54	
Third Quarter	9.52	7.53	
Fourth Quarter	9.84	8.85	
Monthly highs and lows			
2004			
July	9.52	9.00	
August	9.19	7.53	
September	9.18	7.70	
October	9.14	8.85	
November	9.41	9.07	
December	9.84	9.49	
2005		,,	
January (through January 12, 2005)	10.05	9.52	
		,	

You are urged to obtain a current market quotation for the T-Online ordinary shares.

# U.S. FEDERAL AND GERMAN TAX CONSEQUENCES

# U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger to U.S. Holders of T-Online Shares

# General

The following is a summary of certain potential U.S. federal income tax consequences for U.S. holders (as defined below) of the receipt of Deutsche Telekom shares pursuant to the proposed merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom. This discussion does not purport to describe comprehensively all of the tax consequences of the proposed merger that may be relevant to a U.S. holder. This summary applies only to U.S. holders of T-Online shares holding the T-Online shares as capital assets and does not apply to special classes of U.S. holders such as dealers in securities or currencies, holders with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, tax-exempt organizations, financial institutions, holders liable for the alternative minimum tax, securities traders electing to account for their investment in T-Online shares on a mark-to-market basis, and persons holding T-Online shares in a hedging transaction or as part of a straddle or conversion transaction.

For purposes of this discussion, a "U.S. holder" is a holder of T-Online shares that is (i) a citizen or resident of the United States of America, (ii) a corporation organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof, or (iii) otherwise subject to U.S. federal income taxation on a net income basis with respect to the T-Online shares.

# Each U.S. holder should consult such holder's own tax advisor concerning the overall tax consequences to it of the proposed merger arising under non-U.S., state and local laws.

#### Tax Consequences of the Proposed Merger

At this point it is unclear if the proposed merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom will qualify as a tax-free reorganization under section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Tax-Free Reorganization"). Whether or not the proposed merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom qualifies as Tax-Free Reorganization will depend principally on the number of T-Online shareholders that sell their T-Online shares in the cash tender offer, the aggregate amount of T-Online liabilities assumed by Deutsche Telekom on the date of the proposed merger and on Deutsche Telekom's use of the T-Online assets following the merger. **Deutsche Telekom does not intend to take steps to ensure that the proposed merger is treated as a Tax-Free Reorganization. You should consult your tax adviser regarding the appropriate tax treatment of shares and/or cash received in the proposed merger.** 

If the proposed merger is treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a tax-free reorganization under section 368(a) of the Code, U.S. holders would not recognize any income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of the exchange of shares of T-Online for shares of Deutsche Telekom pursuant to the proposed merger. A U.S. holder's aggregate basis in the Deutsche Telekom shares received pursuant to the proposed merger would equal such U.S. holder's former basis in the T-Online shares prior to the proposed merger. Furthermore, a U.S. holder's holding period in a Deutsche Telekom share received in exchange for a T-Online share in the proposed merger would include the holding period of the T-Online share with respect to which the share of Deutsche Telekom was received.

If the proposed merger does not qualify as a Tax-Free Reorganization, the delivery of Deutsche Telekom shares to holders of T-Online shares pursuant to the merger will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a taxable exchange of T-Online shares for shares of Deutsche Telekom, and a U.S. holder will recognize gain or loss on the exchange equal to the difference between the fair market value of the Deutsche Telekom shares received and the holder's basis in the T-Online shares exchanged. Such gain or loss generally will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. holder has held the ordinary shares for more than one year. Net long-term capital gain recognized by an individual U.S. holder is generally subject to taxation at lower rates than short-term capital gain or ordinary income. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. Any gain generally will be treated as U.S. source income.

Deutsche Telekom provides no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service (the "Service") will accept a taxpayer's characterization of the proposed merger as a Tax-Free Reorganization. No rulings have been or will be sought from the Service on any of the issues discussed in this section, including on the issue of the treatment of the proposed merger as a Tax-Free Reorganization. If the Service does not accept the taxpayer's characterization of the proposed merger as a Tax-Free Reorganization, the receipt of Deutsche Telekom shares pursuant to the proposed merger will be treated as a taxable exchange as discussed immediately above.

A holder of T-Online shares that is not a U.S. holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax in respect of the exchange of T-Online shares for Deutsche Telekom shares pursuant to the proposed merger.



#### German Tax Consequences of the Merger to U.S. Holders of T-Online Shares

## General

The following is a summary of certain potential German income and trade tax consequences for U.S. holders (as defined below) of the receipt of Deutsche Telekom shares pursuant to the proposed merger of T-Online into Deutsche Telekom. This discussion does not purport to describe comprehensively all of the tax consequences of the proposed merger that may be relevant to a U.S. holder. The summary applies only to U.S. holders of T-Online shares which are or may be subject to limited German taxation with respect to their investment in T-Online shares.

This summary is based on the German income, corporate income and trade tax laws, regulations, rulings and decisions in effect as of the date of this Prospectus, which are subject to change or differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis. Each U.S. holder should consult his own tax adviser as to the particular tax consequences of purchasing Deutsche Telekom shares and disposing of shares in T-Online including its exchange into Deutsche Telekom shares.

#### Tax Consequences of the Proposed Merger

In principle, the merger of T-Online and Deutsche Telekom, subject to the following, does not have any tax effect on the shareholders of T-Online or Deutsche Telekom (Sec. 13 German Reorganization Tax Act). The shares in Deutsche Telekom acquired in exchange for T-Online shares will have the same tax status as the T-Online shares previously held by the shareholders. Such tax neutrality is of significance if the holder of T-Online shares is subject to German taxes on the capital gain on the disposal of T-Online shares. Pursuant to German tax law the holder of T-Online shares maintains its aggregate tax base (current book value of a business asset or acquisition costs) in the T-Online shares prior to the proposed merger which is deemed as acquisition cost for the Deutsche Telekom shares received pursuant to the proposed merger. Such principle shall apply for:

(i)

any shares that are held as domestic business asset, as business asset with a permanent establishment or as business asset with a domestic permanent representative in Germany;

(ii)

any shares created by a contribution in kind pursuant to Sec. 21 of the German Reorganisation Tax Act;

(iii)

any shares held by a single shareholder of more than 1% of T-Online's registered share capital held for a period longer than twelve months; and

(iv)

any shares held by a single shareholder of more than 1% in T-Online's registered share capital held for up to twelve months.

In case of (iv) a shareholders' holding period in a Deutsche Telekom share received in exchange for a T-Online share in the proposed merger would not include the holding period of the T-Online share with respect to which the share of Deutsche Telekom was received but will start again, whereas in case of (i) through (iii) the holding period in a Deutsche Telekom share received in exchange for a T-Online share in the proposed merger will include the previous holding period of the T-Online share.

Any capital gains arising from the disposal of a Deutsche Telekom share received in exchange for a T-Online share in any of cases (i) through (iv) above would be subject to German taxes according to the ordinary provisions of the German Income Tax Act, Corporate Income Tax Act and Trade Tax Act.

Any U.S. holder of a Deutsche Telekom share received in exchange for a T-Online share in the proposed merger will not be subject to German taxes provided that (i) the share is not held as a business asset, (ii) the shareholding does not reach 1% of the registered share capital of T-Online or (iii) the disposal of Deutsche Telekom shares received pursuant to the proposed merger, which do not reach 1% of the registered share capital of share capital of Deutsche Telekom, provided that the previous shareholding

in T-Online shares was at least 1% of the registered share capital of T-Online, occurs later then twelve months following the acquisition of the T-Online shares.

Any U.S. holder who is a beneficiary under the U.S.-German tax convention ("Treaty") will not be subject to German taxes on a capital gain pursuant to Art. 13 para. 5 of the Treaty unless the shares are held as business assets or in a permanent establishment or by a permanent representative in Germany, Art. 13 para. 3 of the Treaty.

#### VALIDITY OF SECURITIES

Dr. Manfred Balz, Deutsche Telekom's General Counsel, will pass upon the validity under German law of the Deutsche Telekom shares to be issued in connection with the merger.

#### EXPERTS

The financial statements of Deutsche Telekom AG incorporated in this Prospectus by reference to the Current Report on Form 6-K of Deutsche Telekom AG dated September 9, 2004 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of Ernst & Young Deutsche Allgemeine Treuhand AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft and PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschafts-prüfungsgesellschaft, independent registered public accounting firms, given on the authority of said firms as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Ben Nederland Holding B.V. incorporated in this Prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of Deutsche Telekom AG for the year ended December 31, 2003, as amended, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of OJSC Mobile TeleSystems incorporated in this Prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of Deutsche Telekom AG for the year ended December 31, 2003, as amended, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited ("Virgin Mobile") for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, contained in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003, as amended, are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus and have been audited by Arthur Andersen as set forth in their report dated June 6, 2002.

The financial statements of Polska Telefonia Cyfrowa Sp. z o.o. ("PTC") for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, contained in our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003, as amended, are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus and have been audited by Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o. as set forth in their report dated March 1, 2002.

We have not been able to obtain, after reasonable efforts, the written consent of Arthur Andersen or Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o., as required by Section 7 of the Securities Act for incorporation by reference of their respective reports on the consolidated financial statements of Virgin Mobile and PTC for 2001. Rule 437a of the Securities Act permits us to include these reports on the financial statements incorporated by reference herein without the consent of Arthur Andersen and Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o. Because Arthur Andersen and Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o. have not consented to the incorporation by reference of their respective reports herein, your ability to recover for claims against Arthur Andersen and Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o. may be limited. In particular, you will not be able to recover against Arthur Andersen or Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o., under Section 11(a)(4) of the Securities Act for any untrue material fact contained in the financial statements audited by Arthur Andersen and Arthur Andersen Sp. z o.o., or any omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein.



### PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

On October 9, 2004, Deutsche Telekom announced its intent to pursue a statutory merger of T-Online and into Deutsche Telekom. Deutsche Telekom currently owns 73.93% of T-Online's outstanding shares. The proposed merger involves a statutory exchange of T-Online International shares for Deutsche Telekom shares. During November 2004, Deutsche Telekom initiated a voluntary cash tender offer to T-Online shareholders at a cash price per T-Online share of EUR 8.99 in order to provide liquidity and price certainty to those shareholders that desired to dispose of their shares prior to the completion of the merger. Also Deutsche Telekom intends to repurchase as many of its own shares during 2005 as would be necessary to avoid or eliminate any increase in the total shares outstanding as a result of the merger. The pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements do not give effect to the share repurchase.

The accompanying pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30 and September 30, 2004, and the pro forma condensed consolidated income statements for the six-months ended June 30, 2004, the nine-months ended September 30, 2004 and the year ended December 31, 2003 are presented in accordance with German GAAP and reconciled to U.S. GAAP where applicable, and prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheets were prepared as if the transaction occurred on the respective balance sheet dates. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements are subject to a number of estimates, assumptions and uncertainties and do not purport to reflect the results of operations that would have occurred had this acquisition taken place on the dates indicated nor do they purport to reflect results of operations that will occur in the future. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Telekom that are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.

29

## Deutsche Telekom AG Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet As of June 30, 2004 (in millions of €)

	DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Assets			
Noncurrent Assets			
Intangible assets	46,415	(a	ι)
Property, plant and equipment	46,009		
Other noncurrent assets	3,415		
Total noncurrent assets	95,839		
Current Assets			
Inventories, materials and supplies	1,630		
Receivables	5,721		
Other assets	3,040		
Marketable securities	200		
Liquid assets	6,594	(a	u)
	0,574	(4	
Total current assets	17,185		
Prepaid and deferred charges	1,218		
Total Assets	114,242		
Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities			
Shareholders' Equity	60.040	,	、 、
Capital stock and aditional paid-in capital	60,849	(a	l)
Retained earnings	248		
Cumulative translation adjustment account Unappropriated net income (loss) carried forward	(7,034) (23,311)		
Net income	1,824		
Minority interest	4,177	(a	)
winonty increst	7,177	(2	
Total shareholders' equity	36,753		
Accruals			
Pensions and similar obligations	4,537		
Other accruals	12,216		
	16,753		
Liabilities			
Debt	49,979		

	DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Other liabilities	9,893		
Total liabilities	59,872		
Deferred income	864		
Total Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities	114,242		
Total Shareholders' Equity under U.S. GAAP	47,927	(8	ι)

See notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

## Deutsche Telekom AG Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet As of September 30, 2004 (in millions of €)

	DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Assets			
Noncurrent Assets			
Intangible assets	45,629	(a)	
Property, plant and equipment	44,928		
Other noncurrent assets	3,534		
Total noncurrent assets	94,091		
Current Assets			
	1,857		
Inventories, materials and supplies Receivables	5,557		
Other assets	2,676		
Marketable securities	177		
Liquid assets	5,907	(a)	
Total current assets	16,174		
Prepaid and deferred charges	951		
Total Assets	111,216		
Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities			
Shareholders' Equity			
Capital stock and aditional paid-in capital	60,853	(a)	
Retained earnings	248	(a)	
Cumulative translation adjustment account	(7,376)		
Unappropriated net income (loss) carried forward	(23,311)		
Net income	3,211		
Minority interest	4,237	(a)	
Total shareholders' equity	37,862		
Accruals			
Pensions and similar obligations	4,600		
Other accruals	12,459		
	17,059		
Liabilities			
Debt	46,689		

	DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Other liabilities	8,887		
Total liabilities	55,576		
Deferred income	719		
Total Shareholders' Equity and Liabilities	111,216		

See notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

31

## Deutsche Telekom AG Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement Year Ended December 31, 2003 (in millions of €, unless otherwise noted)

Net revenue  55.838    Cost of sales  (31.402)    Gross profit  24.436    Selling costs  (13.505)    General and administrative costs  (4.976)    Other operating income  4.558    Other operating expense  (5.084)    Operating results  5.429    Financial income (expense), net  (4.031)    Results from ordinary business activities  1.398    Income after taxes  1.623    Income after taxes  1.623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4.195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  0.70    Suice  4.164    diluted  4.164    Discone to the Unaudited Pro-Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements		DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Cost of sales  (31,402)    Gross profit  24,436    Selling costs  (13,505)    General and administrative costs  (4,976)    Other operating income  4,558    Other operating expense  (5,084)    Operating results  5,429    Financial income (expense), net  (4,031)    Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income after taxes  1,623    Income after taxes  1,623    Income after taxes  1,623    Income after taxes  1,623    Income after taxes  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0,30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  0,70    basic and diluted  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164	Net revenue	55,838		
Selling costs  (13,505)    General and administrative costs  (4,976)    Other operating income  4,558    Other operating expense  (5,084)    Operating results  5,429    Financial income (expense), net  (4,031)    Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income attres  225    Income attres  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  0,70    basic  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164	Cost of sales			
General and administrative costs  (4,976)    Other operating income  4,558    Other operating expense  (5,084)    Operating results  5,429    Financial income (expense), net  (4,031)    Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income taxes  225    Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    basic  0,70	Gross profit	24,436		
General and administrative costs  (4,976)    Other operating income  4,558    Other operating expense  (5,084)    Operating results  5,429    Financial income (expense), net  (4,031)    Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income taxes  225    Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    basic  0,70	Selling costs	(13,505)		
Other operating income  4,558    Other operating expense  (5,084)  (1)    Operating results  5,429				
Other operating expense  (5,084)  (1)    Operating results  5,429	Other operating income			
Financial income (expense), net  (4,031)    Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income taxes  225    Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  0,70    basic and diluted  0,70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164			(1)	
Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income taxes  225    Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911    Basic and diluted  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164	Operating results	5,429		
Results from ordinary business activities  1,398    Income taxes  225    Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911    Basic and diluted  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164	Financial income (expense), net	(4.031)		
Income taxes  225    Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911    Basic and diluted  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    diluted  4,164				
Income after taxes  1,623    Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)  (2)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911  (3)(4)    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    diluted  4,164	Results from ordinary business activities	1,398		
Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)  (2)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911  (3)(4)    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0.70	Income taxes	225		
Income applicable to minority shareholders  (370)  (2)    Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911  (3)(4)    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0.70		1 (22		
Net Income  1,253    Earnings per share in EUR  0.30    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911  (3)(4)    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0.70    basic and diluted  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    diluted  4,164	income after taxes	1,025		
Earnings per share in EUR 0.30 Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions) 4,195 Net Income under U.S. GAAP 2,911 (3)(4) Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP basic and diluted 0.70 Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions) basic 4,164 diluted 4,169	Income applicable to minority shareholders	(370)	(2)	
Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,195    Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911  (3)(4)    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0.70    basic and diluted  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    basic  4,164    diluted  4,164	Net Income	1,253		
Net Income under U.S. GAAP  2,911  (3)(4)    Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP  0.70    basic and diluted  0.70    Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)  4,164    basic  4,164    diluted  4,169	Earnings per share in EUR	0.30		
Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP basic and diluted 0.70 Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions) basic 4,164 diluted 4,169	Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)	4,195		
basic and diluted 0.70 Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions) basic 4,164 diluted 4,169	Net Income under U.S. GAAP	2,911	(3)(4)	
basic and diluted 0.70 Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions) basic 4,164 diluted 4,169				
basic 4,164 diluted 4,169		0.70		
diluted 4,169				
			1.2	

## Deutsche Telekom AG Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement Six-Months Ended June 30, 2004 (in millions of €, unless otherwise noted)

	DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Net revenue	28,398		
Cost of sales	(15,336)		
Gross profit	13,062		
Selling costs	(6,569)		
General and administrative costs	(2,234)		
Other operating income	3,489		
Other operating expense	(3,205)	(1)	
Operating results	4,543		
Financial income (expense), net	(1,791)		
Results from ordinary business activities	2,752		
Income taxes	(738)		
Income after taxes	2,014		
Income applicable to minority shareholders	(190)	(2)	
Net Income	1,824		
Earnings per share in EUR	0.43		
Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)	4,195		
Net Income under U.S. GAAP	1,606	(3)(4	4)
Earnings per share in EUR under U.S. GAAP			
basic	0.39		
diluted	0.38		
Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions)			
basic	4,166		
diluted	4,172		
See notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Co	ndensed Consolidated Financia	al Statements	

## Deutsche Telekom AG Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement Nine-Months Ended September 30, 2004 (in millions of €, unless otherwise noted)

	DT AG Historical	Pro-Forma Adjustments	DT AG Pro-Forma
Net revenue	42,922		
Cost of sales	(23,185)		
Gross profit	19,737		
Selling costs	(9,583)		
General and administrative costs	(3,294)		
Other operating income	4,858		
Other operating expense	(4,408)	(1)	
Operating results	7,310		
Financial income (expense), net	(2,584)		
Results from ordinary business activities	4,726	·	
Income taxes	(1,221)		
Income after taxes	3,505		
Income applicable to minority shareholders	(294)	(2)	
Net Income	3,211		
Earnings per share in EUR	0.77		
Weighted average no. of shares outstanding (in millions) See notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Cons	4,195 solidated Financial	Statements	

34

### **Pro Forma Adjustments**

### **Balance sheet adjustments:**

#### (a)

Represents the purchase of shares of T-Online in connection with the voluntary cash tender offer at a cash price per share of EUR 8.99 and the issuance of shares of Deutsche Telekom stock valued at EUR (EUR for U.S. GAAP) to purchase the remaining outstanding shares of T-Online at an exchange ratio of : Also reflects an estimation of transaction costs, net of tax. These costs are included as part of the purchase price.

The acquisition will be treated as a purchase transaction and, as such, the aggregate purchase consideration and preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows:

	German GAAP	U.S. GAAP
Consideration and merger costs:		
Cash payments for tender offer		
Fair value of shares issued*		
Merger related costs		
Total purchase consideration		
Preliminary allocation of purchase price:		
Current assets		
Property, plant and equipment and Other assets		
Identifiable intangible assets		
Liabilities		
Goodwill		
Total preliminary allocation		

\* Under German GAAP, the fair value of the Deutsche Telekom shares issued in consideration for the merger is valued at EUR , based on the quoted market price as of the closing date of the transaction. For U.S. GAAP, the fair value of the shares is EUR , based on the quoted market price for a few days before and after the date the terms of the exchange ratio are agreed upon.

The purchase price allocations are preliminary in nature and subject to change within the twelve months following the transaction based on refinements as actual data becomes available.

#### Income statement adjustments:

(1)

Represents incremental amortization of goodwill resulting from the acquisition. Based on a preliminary price allocation, incremental goodwill for German GAAP has been amortized over a period of 7 years.

#### (2)

(3)

Represents incremental amortization of intangible assets resulting from the acquisition. Based on a preliminary price allocation, incremental identifiable intangible assets for U.S. GAAP have been amortized over a period of 7 years. Goodwill is not amortized under U.S. GAAP.

#### (4)

Represents the elimination of U.S. GAAP-based net income (loss) of T-Online previously allocable to minority shareholders.

Represents the elimination of net income (loss) of T-Online previously allocable to minority shareholders.

## PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

## Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers.

We have obtained liability insurance for members of our Supervisory Board and our Board of Management and certain of our officers. This includes insurance against liabilities under the Securities Act.

## Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

- (a) Exhibits pursuant to Item 6.01 of Regulation S-K:
  - 2.1 Merger Agreement (To be filed by pre-effective amendment)
  - 3.1 Articles of Association (*Satzung*) of Deutsche Telekom AG as amended to date (English translation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of Deutsche Telekom's Form 20-F/A, filed with the Commission on June 29, 2004)
  - 4.1 Indenture dated as of July 6, 2000, relating to debt securities of Deutsche Telekom International Finance B.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Reg. No. 333-118932) filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)
  - 4.2 Indenture dated as of July 6, 2000, relating to debt securities of Deutsche Telekom (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Reg. No. 333-118932) filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)
  - 4.3 Except as noted above, the total amount of long-term debt securities of Deutsche Telekom AG authorized under any instrument does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the group on a consolidated basis. Deutsche Telekom AG hereby agrees to furnish to the Commission, upon its request, a copy of any instrument defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of Deutsche Telekom AG or of its subsidiaries for which consolidated or unconsolidated financial statements are required to be filed.
  - 5.1 Opinion of Dr. Manfred Balz, General Counsel to Deutsche Telekom AG as to the validity of the securities being registered (To be filed by pre-effective amendment)
- 10.1 Current Form of Management Board Service Agreement Relating to 2003 Salary and Bonus Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Registration Number 333-118932), filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)
- 10.2 Schedule 1 to Exhibit 10.1 Individual Deviations from Form of Management Board Services Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Registration Number 333-118932), filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)
- 10.3 Current Form of Post-Contractual Non-Compete Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Registration Number 333-118932), filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)

II-1

- 10.4 Schedule 1 to Exhibit 10.3 Individual Deviations from Form of Post-Contractual Non-Compete Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Registration Number 333-118932), filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004, for portions of which confidential treatment was requested)
- 10.5 Deutsche Telekom AG Stock Option Plan 2001 Tranche 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-106591), filed with the Commission on June 27, 2003)
- 23.1 Consent of Dr. Manfred Balz (included in Exhibit 5.1)
- 23.2 Combined consent of Ernst & Young Deutsche Allgemeine Treuhand AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft and PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
- 23.3 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.
- 23.4 Consent of ZAO Deloitte & Touche CIS
- 23.5 Statement Regarding Consent of Arthur Andersen and Arthur Andersen Sp. z. o.o.
- 24.1 Power of attorney (included as part of the signature pages)
- (b) Not applicable
- (c) 99.1 Merger valuation auditors' report pursuant to Item 4(b) of Form F-4 (To be provided by pre-effective amendment).

### Item 22. Undertakings.

- (a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
  - (1)

To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(a)

- To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
- (b)

To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the change in volume and price represent no more than 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement;

(c)

To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement; *Provided, however,* that paragraphs (a)(1)(a) and (a)(1)(b) do not apply if the information required to be included in a next effective emergement by these percentages is contained in periodic reports field by the registration statement purchases.

in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement.



That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(3)

(2)

To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

(4)

To file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include any financial statements required by Item 8.A. of Form 20-F at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a continuous offering. Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933 need not be furnished, provided, that the registrant includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial statements required pursuant to this paragraph (4) and other information necessary to ensure that all other information in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a post-effective amendment need not be filed to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933 or Item 8.A. of Form 20-F if such financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in this registration statement.

(b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial *bona fide* offering thereof.

(c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(d) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes: (i) to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Items 4, 10(b), 11 or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means, and (ii) to arrange or provide for a facility in the United States for the purpose of responding to such requests. The undertaking in subparagraph (i) above includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.

(e) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.

II-3

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, Deutsche Telekom AG has duly caused this registration statement or amendment to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Bonn, Germany, on January 14, 2005.

#### DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AG

### By: /s/ KARL-GERHARD EICK

Name: Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick Title: Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Finance and Controlling

Know all persons by these present that each officer or director whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of the directors named below, jointly and severally, his or her true lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full and several power of substitution for and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments, including post-effective amendments, supplements to this registration statement and any registration statements pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act relating thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as they or he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated on January 14, 2005.

Signatures	Capacity
/s/ KAI-UWE RICKE	Chairman of the Management Board
Kai-Uwe Ricke	Channan of the Management Board
/s/ KARL-GERHARD EICK	Deputy Chairman of the Management Board Finance and Controlling
Dr. Karl-Gerhard Eick	
/s/ WALTER RAIZNER	Member of the Management Board
Walter Raizner	
/s/ HEINZ KLINKHAMMER	Member of the Management Board
Dr. Heinz Klinkhammer	
/s/ RENÉ OBERMANN	Member of the Management Board
René Obermann	
/s/ KONRAD F. REISS	Member of the Management Board
Konrad F. Reiss	

### SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 6(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the undersigned has signed the registration statement or amendment, solely in the capacity of the duly authorized representative of Deutsche Telekom AG in the United States, in New York on January 14, 2005.

DEUTSCHE TELEKOM, INC.

By: /s/ KLAUS-PETER STATZ

Name:Klaus-Peter StatzTitle:Executive Vice President and Treasurer

# EXHIBIT INDEX

umber	Description of Exhibit	Page Numbe
2.1	Merger Agreement (To be filed by pre-effective amendment)	
3.1	Articles of Association ( <i>Satzung</i> ) of Deutsche Telekom AG as amended to date (English translation)	
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of Deutsche Telekom's Form 20-F/A, filed with the Commission on June 29, 2004)	
4.1	Indenture dated as of July 6, 2000, relating to debt securities of Deutsche Telekom International Finance B.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Reg. No. 333-118932) filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)	
4.2	Indenture dated as of July 6, 2000, relating to debt securities of Deutsche Telekom (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Reg. No. 333-118932) filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)	
4.3	Except as noted above, the total amount of long-term debt securities of Deutsche Telekom AG authorized under any instrument does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the group on a consolidated basis. Deutsche Telekom AG hereby agrees to furnish to the Commission, upon its request, a copy of any instrument defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of Deutsche Telekom AG or of its subsidiaries for which consolidated or unconsolidated financial statements are required to be filed.	
5.1	Opinion of Dr. Manfred Balz, General Counsel to Deutsche Telekom AG as to the validity of the securities being registered (To be filed by pre-effective amendment)	
10.1	Current Form of Management Board Service Agreement Relating to 2003 Salary and Bonus Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Registration Number 333-118932), filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004)	
10.2		
10.3		
10.4	Schedule 1 to Exhibit 10.3 Individual Deviations from Form of Post-Contractual Non-Compete Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form F-3 (Registration Number 333-118932), filed with the Commission on September 13, 2004, for portions of which confidential treatment was requested)	
10.5	Deutsche Telekom AG Stock Option Plan 2001 Tranche 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Deutsche Telekom's registration statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-106591), filed with the Commission on June 27, 2003)	
23.1	Consent of Dr. Manfred Balz (included in Exhibit 5.1)	
23.2	PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft	
23.3	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
23.4		
23.5		
24.1	Power of attorney (included as part of the signature pages)	
99.1	Merger valuation auditors' report pursuant to Item 4(b) of Form F-4 (To be provided by pre-effective amendment)	

QuickLinks

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TABLE OF CONTENTS SUMMARY **RISK FACTORS RELATING SPECIFICALLY TO THE MERGER** FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS THE COMPANIES THE MERGER THE T-ONLINE ANNUAL GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING **RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEUTSCHE TELEKOM AND T-ONLINE** MARKET PRICE DATA U.S. FEDERAL AND GERMAN TAX CONSEQUENCES VALIDITY OF SECURITIES EXPERTS PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS **SIGNATURES** SIGNATURE EXHIBIT INDEX